

# Mechanical Strength of Bamboo Fiber Biocomposites Within a Biorefinery Concept

A Major Qualifying Project Submitted to the Faculty of WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Bachelor of Science In Chemical Engineering

Authors:

Clayton Hanlon, Chase Herberich, Jacob Kayser, Terrence McFarland

Advisors:

Professor Michael T. Timko, Ph.D. and Professor Nima Rahbar, Ph.D.

This project represents the work of one or more WPI undergraduate students submitted to the faculty as evidence of completion of a degree requirement. WPI routinely publishes these reports on the web without editorial or peer review. For more information about the projects program at WPI, visit <a href="http://www.wpi.edu/Academics/Projects">http://www.wpi.edu/Academics/Projects</a>

# Acknowledgements

We would like to sincerely thank Professor Michael Timko and Professor Nima Rahbar for their wisdom and guidance throughout the process of working on this project. Next, we want to thank the Worcester Polytechnic Institute Timko Laboratory for their support, especially Timothy Woodard, Kathleen Buek, Tyler Gambon, and Zachary Manfredi for aiding in the preparation of our composite materials. We would also like to thank Ian Anderson for machining our samples, and Russell Lang for setting up the mechanical testing apparatus. Finally, we would like to thank Charles Cai (UC Riverside) and James Walters for providing the bamboo fiber materials to our group. This project would not have been possible without the contributions of these individuals.

#### Abstract

A new approach to fiber pretreatment for a bamboo fiber-reinforced composite (BFRC) was utilized and its resultant biocomposites' strengths were analyzed via tensile and flexural mechanical testing. Co-solvent enhanced lignocellulosic fractionation (CELF) is a biomass pretreatment process that separates cellulose from lignin and hemicellulose in a way that preserves the lignin and hemicellulose rather than destroying them. This allows for further valorization of these components and proves to be a more sustainable pretreatment process for BFRC fabrication. In an effort to make a more sustainable biocomposite, the team found that there was no statistically significant data to prove that incorporation of CELF-treated fibers was more effective than raw bamboo fibers, concluding that CELF-treated fibers performed no worse than the bamboo fiber and epoxy counterparts. Tensile and flexural results were converted to specific strengths and compared to a common building material, 304 stainless steel. The CELF fiber composites' maximum tensile strength performed at 43.8% of 304 steel, and the maximum flexural strength was found to be 261.1% of 304 steel. It was found that limitations to the strengths of the biocomposite samples arose from random, discontinuous fiber alignment and incomplete degasification of the epoxy resin. Incorporation of a bio-based epoxy in an effort to promote greater sustainability of a biocomposite is suggested for future improvement upon the bamboo fiber reinforced composites fabricated in this study.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	i
Abstract	ii
Table of Contentsi	ii
Table of Figures	v
Table of Tables	'n
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
Chapter 2. Background	3
2.1 Emission Concerns Related to Common Buildings	3
2.2 Fiber Reinforced Composites	4
2.3 Bamboo Fiber Reinforced Composites (BFRCs)	5
2.4 Biomass Composition and Chemical Structure	7
<b>2.4.1 Biorefinery</b> 1	0
2.5 In Search of a Sustainable Pretreatment Technique1	1
2.5.1 Co-solvent Enhanced Lignocellulosic Fractionation	1
2.5.2 Applications of CELF Cellulose	2
Chapter 3. Methodology 1	3
3.1 Materials Used for BFRC Construction1	3
3.2 Forming the BFRC Samples	4
<b>3.3 Material Strength Testing</b>	5
Chapter 4. Results and Discussion	0
4.1 Tensile Test Results	0
4.2 Flexural Test Results	1
4.3 Specific Strength Determination	3
4.3.1 Specific Tensile Strength	4
4.3.2 Specific Flexural Strength	5
4.4 Fracture Analysis on Tensile Breaks	6
4.5 Recommendations for Future Work	8
Chapter 5. Conclusions	0
References	1
Appendices	7

Appendix A. BFRC Layer Calculations – Mass Fraction	37
A.1 Bamboo Fiber Composite Sample Layer Data	37
A.2 CELF Fiber Composite Sample Layer Data	37
A.3 Composite Layering Workbook Link	37
Appendix B. BFRC Tensile and Flexural Test Results & Analysis	38
B.1 Bamboo Fiber Composite Tensile Data	38
B.2 CELF Fiber Composite Tensile Data	38
B.3 Statistical P-values for Tensile Testing	38
B.4 Bamboo Fiber Composite Tensile Data	39
B.5 CELF Fiber Composite Tensile Data	39
B.6 Statistical P-values for Flexural Testing	39
B.7 Mechanical Test Workbook Link	39
Appendix C. Pictures of BFRC Samples and Their Creation	40
C.1 Additional Pictures of The BFRC-Making Process	40
C.2 Tensile Cross-Sections of Fractures for All Bamboo Weight Percentages	40
C.3 Tensile Cross-Sections of Fractures for All CELF Weight Percentages	42
Appendix D. Full Mechanical Test Result Files Generated by Instron Software	45
D.1 Tensile Result Files	45
D.2 Flexural Result Files	50

# **Table of Figures**

Figure 1. Historical carbon emissions from steelmaking and future carbon emissions needed for
the net zero scenario4
Figure 2. A microscopic photograph of the pure bamboo (left) compared to the alkali treated
bamboo (right)6
Figure 3. Tensile strength and Young's modulus of the epoxy resin matrix, the pure bamboo
composite, and the alkali treated bamboo composite
Figure 4. Flexural strength and flexural modulus of the pure bamboo composite and the alkali
treated bamboo composite7
Figure 5. Composition of biomass feedstock (10)8
Figure 6. Lignin structure flowchart from (15)9
Figure 7. Trial composite using a high-viscosity epoxy that proved difficult to work with14
Figure 8. Ball-milled CELF layer atop epoxy layer of 2 wt. % composite sample15
Figure 9. Three coupons of 1% wt. bamboo BFRC16
Figure 10. Three coupons of 2% wt. CELF BFRC17
Figure 11. Instron 5567A tensile testing apparatus using claw grips18
Figure 12. Instron 5567A flexural testing apparatus using a 3-point fixture
Figure 13. Tensile stress (psi) performance by wt. % for bamboo & CELF fiber composites20
Figure 14. Flexural stress (psi) performance by wt. % for bamboo & CELF fiber composites22
Figure 15. Tensile break on 4% bamboo-reinforced composite coupon27
Figure 16. Tensile break on 4 wt. % CELF reinforced composite coupons

# **Table of Tables**

Table 1. Tensile & flexural specimen dimensions	16
Table 2. Summary of tensile test results of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites	21
Table 3. Summary of flexural test results of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites	22
Table 4. Average density results of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites	24
Table 5. Average specific tensile strengths of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites	25
Table 6. Average specific flexural strengths of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites2	26

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

Society heavily relies on certain building materials to accomplish the ever-increasing amount of construction and practical installations that growing populations demand. Common building materials used for many applications include steel and concrete, which are limited and continuously being depleted with increasing population and consumption. These nonrenewable materials are emitting carbon into the atmosphere with their fabrication and installment, negatively contributing to the global climate crisis. More sustainable alternatives to building materials like steel and concrete are becoming increasingly sought after due to their potential for providing an alternate use for plant matter as opposed to incineration for energy.

Biocomposites, especially fiber-reinforced composites, are a promising replacement for nonrenewable building materials. Fiber-reinforced composites consist of a matrix—typically a resin—that is reinforced by natural plant fibers to create a mechanically sturdy material. A biocomposite material's main benefits are its ability to remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere during the plant feedstock's life cycle, and that the plant feedstock is a renewable resource that can continuously be produced. As a fast-growing plant feedstock, bamboo is a particularly promising option.

To make biocomposites, biomass must be converted into a usable form—i.e. consisting primarily of cellulose as opposed to its natural form of a complex network of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin—prior to reinforcing a resin matrix. Despite the inherent sustainability of using a renewable biomass feedstock, the process of removing hemicellulose and lignin is often done unsustainably; hemicellulose and lignin tend to be wasted by use of harsh chemicals during the pretreatment process. Thus, engineering a bamboo fiber-reinforced composite using a fiber pretreatment option that allows for hemicellulose and lignin to be valorized rather than wasted would create a novel, even more sustainable biocomposite.

Co-solvent enhanced lignocellulosic fractionation (CELF) is a biomass pretreatment option that does just that. With use of a water-tetrahydrofuran (THF) co-solvent, biomass can be fractionated into a solid cellulose residue, which could potentially be used for a biocomposite, and soluble hemicellulose and lignin, which can be separately extracted. This pretreatment technology has not been used in the scope of biocomposites, however the literature around CELF pretreatment portrays the cellulose residue as a promising option as a fiber for use in a biocomposite. The goal of this work is to fabricate a bamboo fiber-reinforced composite (BFRC)

1

using CELF-pretreated bamboo and test its mechanical properties to analyze whether this pretreatment option is suitable for making a biocomposite that can eventually serve as a prevalent building material in the ways that steel and concrete are used. A reader of this study that is interested in biocomposites may take away valuable information regarding the mechanical performance of CELF fiber biocomposites and the potential for integrating CELF fibers into biocomposite fabrication processes to further enhance the overall sustainability.

#### **Chapter 2. Background**

#### 2.1 Emission Concerns Related to Common Buildings

Due to worsening climate change, environmental waste, and pollution, there must be an increase in the creation of alternatives in industry for more sustainable, carbon neutral practices. Commercial industry currently contributes to 36% of all greenhouse gas emissions (1), making it one of the highest polluters of greenhouse gas and waste. Sustainable, bio-based alternatives have been sought after to replace existing commercial industry practices with something that works just as well or potentially better while being carbon neutral or negative in order to reduce emissions.

About 1500 million tonnes of steel per year are made for residential and industrial construction, infrastructure, and transportation industries, making it a plentiful material in the global economy (2). However, many problems arise when considering the sustainability of the steelmaking industry. For instance, steelmaking makes up 25% of all greenhouse gas emissions related to industry, and cement contributes an additional 19%. This means that the steelmaking and cement industry make up 17% of total greenhouse gas emissions worldwide, a significant portion for the construction industry (1). As of 2022, making 1.41 tons of steel creates 1 ton of carbon emissions, which is slightly better than the historical peak in 2015 of 1.54 tons of steel per ton of carbon emissions; however, the International Energy Agency labels the steelmaking industry as "not on track" with the goal of net zero emissions by 2050 (*3*). Figure 1 below contains the necessary reduction of carbon emissions within the steel industry in order to reach net zero by 2050:



**Figure 1.** Historical carbon emissions from steelmaking and future carbon emissions needed for the net zero scenario (*3*)

#### 2.2 Fiber Reinforced Composites

Due to concerns with emissions, new methods have been researched to find a more sustainable alternative to steel. One category of materials that has recently come to the spotlight of steel alternatives, referred to as fiber reinforced composites, produced notably good material properties relative to steel and other common materials used in industry today (4). Fiber reinforced composites can be classified into four different groups: metal matrix composites, ceramic matrix composites, carbon/carbon composites, and polymer matrix composites. These matrices act as a binding agent that holds the reinforcement together and enhances the material properties of that reinforcement (4). Polymer matrix composites also have subsets of classifications, being thermoset, thermoplastic, and elastomeric composites (4). All of these fiber reinforced composite types combine fibers with one of these other four categories to create a stronger material than the two parts separately. When seeking a rigid, strong material that could potentially replace steel, thermoset polymers are the most ideal competition as they establish crosslinked polymer chains during initial curing, which leads to a set, rigid product that does not deform easily but cannot be reshaped (4). Thermoset materials can also be compared to steel with thermal properties, as they can reach very high temperatures without compromising any

structural integrity (4). The main issue with these composites is that they do not biodegrade quickly or easily, and can thus be subjected to more environmental waste and pollution (5).

#### 2.3 Bamboo Fiber Reinforced Composites (BFRCs)

Fiber reinforced composites, specifically thermoset plastic matrix composites, are a main focus when studying sustainable building material alternatives due to their steel-like properties. In order to consider a suitable replacement for steel, this thermoset composite must be at a minimum carbon neutral- but ideally carbon negative. This material must also have the potential to either break down quickly in the environment or be incinerated for a net carbon neutral life cycle. In order to accomplish this, both the thermoset polymer and the fibers used must be harvested from sustainable practices, such as a combination of a bio-based epoxy and plant fiber. One such material that has begun to emerge as a viable replacement is a combination of bamboo fibers combined with epoxy resin, referred to as a bamboo fiber reinforced composite (BFRC). Bamboo is one of the more favorable sustainable natural fibers to use due to its properties, such as low density, high stiffness, high strength, as well as its common availability and extremely fast growth rate (6).

Although bamboo is typically a strong material on its own, the presence of lignin and other organic material prevent bamboo from reaching its maximum strength potential in a composite as they do not allow for proper infiltration of the matrix into the species. To fix this issue, it is common practice in bamboo fiber reinforced composites to pre-treat the bamboo to allow for easier infiltration of the matrix. One study used a combination of bamboo and epoxy with two different methods, with the first using pure bamboo fiber and epoxy resin, and the second using an alkali treated bamboo fiber and epoxy resin. Tensile tests were performed on the pure bamboo as well as the alkali treated bamboo, showing that the pure bamboo tensile strength was 717.53 MPa with a Young's Modulus of 43.34 GPa, while the alkali treated bamboo for 33.31 GPa (*5*). Using a microscope, both the pure bamboo and the alkali treated bamboo can be analyzed to see the following images:



**Figure 2.** A microscopic photograph of the pure bamboo (left) compared to the alkali treated bamboo (right) (5)

As seen in Figure 2, the alkali treated bamboo is missing the lignin between the bamboo fibers due to the alkali treatment, resulting in it having lower strength properties than the pure bamboo. However, when a matrix is added to create a BFRC, the alkali-treated bamboo composite shows a significant increase in strength when compared to the pure bamboo composite as seen in Figures 3 and 4:



Figure 3. Tensile strength and Young's modulus of the epoxy resin matrix, the pure bamboo composite, and the alkali treated bamboo composite (5)



**Figure 4.** Flexural strength and flexural modulus of the pure bamboo composite and the alkali treated bamboo composite (5)

Thus when creating bamboo fiber reinforced composites, it is important to remove the lignin using alkali treatment or other methods to enhance the bonding between the fibers and the matrix, which is epoxy resin in this particular study.

#### 2.4 Biomass Composition and Chemical Structure

The chemical building blocks of plant life are what catches the attention of the bioenergy and renewable energy industries as all plant life consists mainly of carbohydrates. Examples of these carbohydrates include starch, pectin, cellulose, and hemicellulose (7). Starch, the edible organic component of plants, is a key molecule for bioethanol production (8). This molecule is composed of the glucose polymers amylose and amylopectin (7), which can be broken down further into basic glucose monomers allowing for the production of ethanol through fermentation. Common feedstocks for bioethanol production include corn stover, sugarcane, and sugar beet (9).



Figure 5. Composition of biomass feedstock (10)

For the purposes of this paper, the term 'biomass' will be used to describe the inedible portion of plant life. Lignocellulosic biomass consists of three main components: cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin (7). Each of these components has a distinct function within plants based on their chemical makeup and structure (7). Applicability in the sustainable building material industry is also dependent on these components' chemical compositions. Cellulose is the majority component in biomass, with hemicellulose and lignin accounting for the rest of the plant's biomass composition (*11*). The structure of cellulose is dependent on the 1,4- $\beta$ -glycosidic bonds which hold together the D-glucose monomers comprising cellulose. The resulting geometry allows for cellulose units to hydrogen bond, forming large chains. This cellulose is naturally occurring in two crystal forms: I $\alpha$  and I $\beta$ . Cellulose I $\beta$  is the most common lignocellulosic biomass present in plant cell walls (*12*). Due to the relative strength and structural integrity of its intermolecular chains, cellulose is considered a promising fiber source for biocomposites (*13*).

Hemicellulose is another main component of biomass, which acts as a natural binding medium for plants' cellulose fibers. Similar to how cement binds together iron rebars in skyscrapers, hemicellulose provides interfiber support for the stronger cellulose chains within plant walls. Xylan is the most common type of hemicellulose and is composed of 5-carbon xylose sugars bonded by  $\beta$ -(1,4)-D-xylopyranose backbone (*14*). Unlike cellulose which forms

many uniformed chains based on its bonding structure, hemicellulose has many different structural subunits due to diversity in its bonding and composition. Other prevalent saccharides in hemicellulose are mannans and glucans, but relative presence within a given plant specimen varies based on species, developmental stage, and tissue type that a sample is taken from (14). As a result of the high composition variability and non-uniform structure, hemicellulose is not an important ingredient in biocomposite formulation.

Lignin is the third main component of biomass and is distinctly different from cellulose and hemicellulose. Lignin is a complex organic polymer found in the cell walls of plants, particularly in wood and bark. Lignin's chemical composition is composed of phenylpropanoid units; these being aromatic rings mainly composed of p-hydroxyphenyl (H), guaiacyl (G), and syringyl (S) units (*15*). These units covalently bonded to hemicelluloses, forming a complex three-dimensional network (Figure 6). Lignin's structure is highly heterogeneous, making it resistant to degradation by most enzymes and microbes (*15*). This resistance contributes to the durability of wood and other lignocellulosic materials.



Figure 6. Lignin structure flowchart from (15)

However, due to lignin's hydrophobic and rigid characteristics, its presence in biocomposites can interfere with the adhesion between the plant fibers or particles and the matrix material in the composite. Poor adhesion can weaken the overall mechanical properties of biocomposite samples, such as tensile strength and flexibility. By removing lignin through biorefinery, the separated cellulose plant fibers can have improved compatibility with the matrix material, leading to better bonding and overall enhanced properties of biocomposite samples.

#### 2.4.1 Biorefinery

Biorefinery is a broad term that is used when describing a future with completely sustainable building materials. The act of biorefining is described as the act of converting biomass into "a spectrum of marketable products and energy" by the International Energy Agency (*16*). Biomass such as agricultural residues, algae, and organic waste is processed to produce a multitude of valuable products including biofuels, biochemicals, and biomaterials. By harnessing renewable resources listed above, biorefinery has the potential to significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions and dependency on finite fossil fuels, thus mitigating climate change and contributing to energy security.

Furthermore, biorefinery plays a pivotal role in the circular economy framework by promoting resource efficiency and waste valorization (17). Through integrated processes, biorefinery facilities promote the extraction of high-value compounds from biomass. Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass is an important process that the group identified when considering formulation of BFRCs. Pretreatment is a crucial first step in lignocellulosic biomass refinery as it facilitates the delignification of samples, increasing the accessibility to cellulose (18). Examples of bamboo pretreatment include alkaline solution treatment (5, 19) and co-solvent enhanced lignocellulosic fractionation (20) As lignin is the most prevalent non-carbohydrate component of lignocellulosic biomass (18), removal along with preservation from bulk biomass is needed to optimize potential benefits of lignocellulosic biorefinery. Through preservation during pretreatment, all components of lignocellulosic have the potential to be valorized into profitable products, creating new sources of revenue and furthering the economic viability of biorefinery processes.

#### 2.5 In Search of a Sustainable Pretreatment Technique

Given the need for biomass treatment to produce highly-pure cellulose fibers for application in a biocomposite, it is important to consider a pretreatment technique that is both effective and sustainable. The severe reaction conditions inherently present in alkaline hydrolysis (5), for example, is not sustainable due to a lack of use of "green" solvents (21). Utilizing a more sustainable pretreatment technique is important for promoting the overall sustainability of the composite material itself, which is the ultimate end goal of pursuing a biocomposite. This research will make use of a pretreatment technique discovered by researchers at University of California at Riverside in the last decade that has shown to have promising benefits in both effective fiber delignification and high potential for hemicellulose and lignin valorization.

#### 2.5.1 Co-solvent Enhanced Lignocellulosic Fractionation

The treatment method being considered for this composite is co-solvent enhanced lignocellulosic fractionation (CELF), a co-solvent of water and tetrahydrofuran (THF) (20). The co-solvent is generally used in a range of 1:1 to 3:1 volume ratio of THF:water with a 1 wt% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> catalyst as it has experimentally shown high sugar yields while maintaining less energy usage and recovery costs (20). Before adopting the official name of "CELF," this organosolv pretreatment was analyzed for its ability to extract hemicellulose for furfural production (20, 22), and was coupled with various metal halides to examine the effects on furfural yields (23). Research on CELF continued in the direction of sugar yields-now incorporating cellulose-in the context of ethanol yields upon fermentation of these sugars (24, 25). Alongside research in sugar yields, research in the unique dynamics of lignin in this THF-water co-solvent was done (26, 27, 28, 29), showing great potential for lignin valorization that is not observed with other pretreatment techniques. Along with keeping lignin more intact compared to other pretreatment options, CELF maintained cellulose-rich solids with higher crystallinity and degree of polymerization when directly compared to other organosolv pretreatments (28). CELF cellulose maintains much of its structural integrity due in part to less removal of structural lignin; as opposed to "blindly" removing all lignin-as displayed by other pretreatment techniques-CELF delignification appears to remove lignin and hemicellulose that do not provide structural integrity to the cellulose fibers (28). The highly-pure CELF cellulose fibers are optimal for use in this biocomposite, and the novel properties observed in CELF lignin can allow for its valorization.

The unique properties of CELF lignin as opposed to depolymerized lignin from other pretreatment options is that THF in the CELF co-solvent does not participate in a reaction with lignin; rather, the co-solvent separates lignin from cellulose by promoting disaggregation of lignin from globules into coils (26, 27). This solvent interaction with lignin is described as a "theta" solvent, meaning that lignin:lignin interactions are of equal strength to CELF:lignin interactions (26, 27). The solvation of lignin is primarily due to THF (26), as lignin contains hydrophobic faces that would agglomerate in the presence of water (27). Lignin linkages are thus exposed to the CELF co-solvent, where ether linkages—particularly  $\beta$ -O-4 and  $\beta$ - $\beta$  linkages— between lignin subunits are hydrolyzed by water, resulting in further depolymerization (27). This dissolution chemistry results in CELF lignin having a relatively low molecular weight and a higher content of phenolic and carboxylic acid hydroxyl groups, both of which contribute to enhanced bioconversion (29) and could see applications in lignin-based bio-epoxies (30). The particular use of lignin is outside the scope of this project; however, the idea that CELF lignin can be valorized, rather than simply burned for energy, is a major driving force of the sustainability of this biocomposite.

#### 2.5.2 Applications of CELF Cellulose

The benefits of CELF cellulose are its purity and high crystallinity and degree of polymerization (28). Seeing that cellulose is a primary component responsible for the strength/structure of plant cell walls (31), maximizing its purity and structural integrity upon isolation of cellulose fibers could result in maximizing the strength of the composite being reinforced.

In the context of biocomposites, CELF cellulose is particularly beneficial compared to other organosolv pretreatments because it maintains the structural integrity of the fibers rather than increasing the accessibility of cellulose (28); while increased cellulose accessibility is desired for enzymatic breakdown (24, 25), it would likely result in a weaker reinforcement for a biocomposite. Being able to use an organosolv pretreatment method to prepare high-quality cellulose fibers for a biocomposite is very beneficial because of the high-quality lignin that can be produced alongside it (32). The goal of this research, compared to other research in bamboo fiber-reinforced composites, is to explore the viability of using CELF pretreated cellulose fibers.

## **Chapter 3. Methodology**

This study examined the impact of different variables on the strength performance of BFRC samples made using bamboo fibers and epoxy. To achieve this goal, several steps were taken to ensure the properties of the materials used were satisfactory. Samples of BFRCs were formulated following a procedure developed from a published study (*6*), varying the weight percent for each fiber type used. The BFRC samples were finally tested for both tensile and flexural strength at each weight percent for the two fiber types.

#### 3.1 Materials Used for BFRC Construction

Two different types of bamboo fiber were used in this study. The first was a form of chemically treated and shredded bamboo fibers, provided by the Bamboo MQP working in the Timko lab. Bamboo stocks of the species *Phyllostachys nuda* from The National Zoo in Washington D.C. were imported and ground into fibers varying from 0.1–0.5 in. in length by use of a hand saw and coffee grinder. The fibers were subsequently dried in an oven for 6 hours. Finally, soxhlet extraction (*33*) was performed with toluene and ethanol to remove residual waxes and oils from the bamboo fibers. The other fiber type used in the study was CELF cellulose fibers derived from bamboo, sent to the Timko lab by UC Riverside with a composition of 89% glucan, 3% xylan, and 8% lignin with very little ash. The CELF cellulose fibers were ball milled using an Across International VQ-N High Energy Ball Mill (*34*) for 15 minutes to induce a slightly powderized consistency.

To create samples of BFRCs that would yield strength results comparable to existing literature values and remain workable, the epoxy type used in this study had to meet certain criteria. Epoxy characteristics considered for procurement included viscosity, hardening time, cure time, and rated strength. Various epoxies were trialed using (*35*) cellulose powder to create biocomposite samples and analyze epoxy performance without wasting the limited amount of CELF cellulose fibers available. One such test composite using an epoxy that was deemed too viscous can be found below in Figure 7. After testing multiple epoxies, the two most desirable characteristics for this study were deemed to be low viscosity and long hardening time with a quick total cure time. The epoxy that best fit this set of criteria, as well as being easy to work with physically, was the Loctite M-121HP (*36*) structural adhesive. Loctite M-121HP has a hardening time of 2 hours, a cure time of 24 hours, a viscosity of 11,000 cP, and a rated sheer

peel strength of 4,800 psi. It is important to note that this is a petroleum-based epoxy used for the purpose of comparing the strength results between weight percent and fiber type, due to the unavailability of bio-based epoxies.



Figure 7. Trial composite using a high-viscosity epoxy that proved difficult to work with

#### **3.2 Forming the BFRC Samples**

The procedure developed for creating the BFRC samples in this study was adapted from published work by (*6*) researchers that investigated the properties of BFRCs involving longer bamboo splints with different thermosetting matrix types. An Excel spreadsheet was used to calculate the weights required per layer of epoxy and fiber for every weight percent examined in the study (Appendix B). Samples involved alternating layers of epoxy and fiber, with three total epoxy layers and two layers of fiber in between. Silicone molds 4 inches in diameter were used to form the BFRCs into thin disks. Molds were placed in a tray atop a scale, and the weight was measured and the scale subsequently tared. The M-121HP epoxy was then dispensed into the mold in accordance with the calculated weight required to satisfy one layer. The epoxy was then spread into a thin, uniform layer using a plastic epoxy spreader tool (*37*). Both the treated bamboo fibers and CELF fibers were measured in advance in accordance with required layer; spreading the fibers with an epoxy spreader tool was occasionally necessary to ensure uniformity

(Figure 8). All steps involved in creating layers of epoxy and fibers were repeated until a complete sample was present in the mold. The molds with the BFRC samples were then immediately placed in a vacuum oven at room temperature (20°C) for 30 minutes at a pressure of 12 in. Hg to remove air bubbles. After time in the vacuum, the samples cured for the remainder of the 24-hour curing period at room temperature. One sample disk of 4 in. diameter was produced per fiber type and weight percent—1–4 wt. % of each fiber including one pure epoxy sample—making 9 total samples.



Figure 8. Ball-milled CELF layer atop epoxy layer of 2 wt. % composite sample

#### 3.3 Material Strength Testing

In preparation for material strength testing, the BFRC samples were cut into coupons in rough accordance with ASTMs D790-17 & D3039 (*38*, *39*) for tensile and flexural testing, respectively. Due to constraints with the fashion in which the BFRC samples were created using the layering technique in a 4 in. mold, it was difficult to obtain scaled-down thicknesses when machining coupons as the test specimens. As these coupons were used purely for internal comparison between fiber types and weight percentages, the thicknesses were made uniform—within error—across all samples. Widths and lengths of the coupons were machined in accordance with specifications from ASTM D3039 for random-discontinuous orientation of the fibers, with a scaled-down length-to-width ratio of 10:1. This dimension ratio also fell in accordance with the maximum specified ratio in ASTM D790-17 of 16:1 for length-to-thickness

given the uniform thickness of all specimens used for testing (see Table 1 for dimension ratios). The mean length among all coupons was 2.834 inches with a standard deviation of 0.014 inches. The mean width was 0.285 inches with a standard deviation of 0.002 inches, and the mean thickness was 0.176 inches with a standard deviation of 0.002 inches.

Measurement Type	Length [in]	Width [in]	Thickness [in]
Mean	2.834	0.285	0.176
St. Dev.	0.014	0.002	0.002
Ratio Length:X	1	10	16

 Table 1. Tensile & flexural specimen dimensions

One sample disk was able to produce 7 coupons for testing, of which 6 were used; triplicates for both tensile and flexural tests were run to obtain an average of 3 for each of the respective strengths. The triplicate approach allowed for comparison within weight percent categories to observe the effects of potential defects, such as any remaining air bubbles or chips from machining. The majority of test specimens possessed defects to some degree, as evidenced by Figures 9 and 10 below, and were all tested using the same method and apparatus for both the tensile and flexural analyses.



Figure 9. Three coupons of 1% wt. bamboo BFRC



Figure 10. Three coupons of 2% wt. CELF BFRC

The machine used for both material strength tests—tensile and flexural—was the Instron 5567A Universal Testing Machine. Tensile testing was performed using claw grips and a load rate of 0.025 in/min; flexural testing was performed using the Instron three-point fixture and a load rate of 0.1 in/min (see Figures 11 and 12 below). The measured tensile and flexural strengths in pounds per square foot were then analyzed for statistical significance using a T test for p-values.



Figure 11. Instron 5567A tensile testing apparatus using claw grips



Figure 12. Instron 5567A flexural testing apparatus using a 3-point fixture

Density measurements of the various BFRC samples were conducted to aid in determining their specific strengths. The Archimedes method was used for determining density, utilizing mass divided by the volume of water displacement (Equation 1). Specific strengths were calculated using Equation 2, and allowed for comparison of the BFRC samples to 304 grade stainless steel—a common building material.

The fractures of the BFRC coupons resulting from tensile and flexural testing were qualitatively analyzed to aid in the understanding of factors contributing to the composites' failure under load. Cross-sections of coupons selected for apparent significant defects were chosen to be captured photographically by a Panasonic Lumix G7 camera with an Olympus 30mm macro lens.

$$\rho = \frac{M}{V}$$
<sup>[1]</sup>

$$SS = \frac{S}{\rho}$$
<sup>[2]</sup>

# **Chapter 4. Results and Discussion**

#### **4.1 Tensile Test Results**

The tensile testing yielded tensile strength and modulus results for each coupon tested, evaluated as an average of each weight percent for both fiber types. Figure 13 below shows the performance of the triplicate samples for tensile testing. Pure epoxy (0 wt. %) had an average tensile strength of 4158.1 psi, and the bamboo and CELF fiber reinforced composites performed similarly for 2, 3, and 4 wt. %, with CELF composites slightly outperforming bamboo composites for all three weight percentages. However, for 1 wt. %, the bamboo and CELF fibers performed slightly better at 4530.7 psi and 4751.5 psi, respectively. The full breakdown of average tensile strength and modulus performances for all of the test specimens can be found in Table 2.



Figure 13. Tensile stress (psi) performance by wt. % for bamboo and CELF fiber composites

Reinforcement	Weight %	Average Tensile Stress [psi]	Average Young's Modulus [psi]
None	0	$4158.1 \pm 182.0$	$315730.1 \pm 10744.4$
CELF	1	$4751.5 \pm 669.7$	$269669.0 \pm 43297.1$
Bamboo	1	$4530.7\pm405.2$	$353546.8 \pm 70757.1$
CELF	2	$4184.2 \pm 379.5$	$286835.7 \pm 31976.4$
Bamboo	2	$3702.8\pm554.7$	$404746.0 \pm 42248.1$
CELF	3	$4245.6\pm176.0$	$244800.2 \pm 23811.6$
Bamboo	3	$3926.4 \pm 223.4$	$334145.2 \pm 34323.7$
CELF	4	$4166.4 \pm 493.5$	$271526.4 \pm 37501.2$
Bamboo	4	$3552.5 \pm 193.6$	$357335.6 \pm 24035.4$

Table 2. Summary of tensile test results of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites

Upon performing statistical analysis on the recorded average tensile strengths, it was revealed that there is no statistically significant difference between the CELF and bamboo fibers (Table 2). It was also found that there is no statistically significant difference between the 1 wt. % coupons—which were the best performing samples—and pure epoxy for both fiber types.

#### **4.2 Flexural Test Results**

The flexural testing yielded flexural stress and modulus results for each coupon tested using the three-point method described in section 3.3. Like tensile testing, stress results were evaluated as an average of each weight percent for both fiber types. Figure 14 below shows the performance of the triplicate samples for flexural testing. Pure epoxy (0 wt. %) had an average flexural strength of 8804.9 psi. Both fiber types at 1 wt. % performed better than pure epoxy at 10389.4 psi and 10409.0 psi respectively. BFRC performance slightly decreased from 1 to 3 wt. %, and then increased marginally at 4 wt. %. The full breakdown of average flexural stress and modulus performances for all of the test specimens can be found in Table 3.



**Figure 14.** Flexural stress (psi) performance by wt. % for bamboo and CELF fiber composites **Table 3.** Summary of flexural test results of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites

Reinforcement	Weight %	Average Flexural Stress [psi]	Average Flexural Modulus [psi]
None	0	8804.9 ± 1350.8	$296382.8 \pm 1840.9$
CELF	1	$10389.4 \pm 217.8$	$316258.6 \pm 1467.4$
Bamboo	1	$10409.0 \pm 286.9$	$314472.3 \pm 16293.6$
CELF	2	$10427.7 \pm 302.6$	$325313.6 \pm 7022.5$
Bamboo	2	$9065.9 \pm 656.1$	$303059.4 \pm 20400.0$
CELF	3	$9115.6 \pm 491.3$	$320939.9 \pm 2972.0$
Bamboo	3	$7885.9\pm548.5$	$269520.2 \pm 44356.3$
CELF	4	$9494.7 \pm 835.4$	$322323.7 \pm 11147.6$
Bamboo	4	$9350.4 \pm 601.6$	$316191.2 \pm 15873.3$

A statistical analysis on the recorded average flexural stresses, like the tensile results, showed that there is no statistically significant difference between the CELF and bamboo fibers (Table 3). It was also found that there is no statistically significant difference between the 1 wt. % coupons—which were the best performing samples—and pure epoxy for both fiber types.

One of the possible causes for this lack of significant difference for both tensile and flexural results could be the relatively small sample size of only three coupons per weight percent for every mechanical test performed. This result, however, shows promise for the use of CELF fibers in future biocomposites as they performed no worse than their bamboo and pure epoxy counterparts.

#### **4.3 Specific Strength Determination**

Using the values determined above regarding both the tensile and flexural strength of the composites, specific strength values, or the strength of the material with respect to its density, were calculated and compared to literature values of 304 stainless steel, a common alloy used in the building industry (40). 304 stainless steel was chosen as a comparison to the CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites due to its favorable tensile and flexural properties, being used for structural applications and industry such as beams, frames, and supports, as well as having excellent workability with welding and fabrication which allows it to be versatile in many types of industry (41). Densities were determined by weighing each coupon prior to testing and using the water displacement method to find the volume of each coupon, taking an average to calculate the average density of each weight percentage of both CELF and bamboo composites. These densities are located in Table 4:

Reinforcement	Weight %	Average Density (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )					
None	0	1.11					
CELF	1	1.08					
Bamboo	1	1.08					
CELF	2	1.06					
Bamboo	2	1.06					
CELF	3	1.04					
Bamboo	3	1.04					
CELF	4	1.03					
Bamboo	4	1.03					

Table 4. Average density results of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites

## 4.3.1 Specific Tensile Strength

The specific tensile strength of all composites was calculated using tensile strength values determined from testing and dividing them by their respective average density values, as seen in Table 5. These values were also taken as a percentage of strength compared to 304 stainless steel alloy, found to be  $71.9 \frac{kN*m}{kg}$  based on literature values for the density and stress, calculated using Equation 2. based on literature values for the density and strength, calculated using Equation 2. (40, 42, Appendix XYZ).

Reinforcement	Weight %	Average Tensile Specific Strength $\left[\frac{kN*m}{kg}\right]$	% of 304 Stainless Steel Alloy
None	0	25.8	35.8
CELF	1	31.5	43.8
Bamboo	1	28.8	40.1
CELF	2	27.3	38.0
Bamboo	2	24.0	33.3
CELF	3	27.3	38.0
Bamboo	3	26.1	36.2
CELF	4	27.3	38.0
Bamboo	4	23.8	33.1

Table 5. Average specific tensile strengths of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites

#### 4.3.2 Specific Flexural Strength

The specific flexural strength of all composites was calculated using flexural strength values determined from testing and dividing them by their respective average density values, as seen in Table 6. These values were also taken as a percentage of strength compared to 304 stainless steel alloy, found to be  $25.9 \frac{kN*m}{kg}$  based on literature values for the density and stress, calculated using Equation 2. (40, 42, Appendix XYZ).

Reinforcement	Weight %	Average Flexural Specific Strength $\left[\frac{kN*m}{kg}\right]$	% of 304 Stainless Steel Alloy
None	0	54.6	211.3
CELF	1	66.0	255.4
Bamboo	1	66.1	255.9
CELF	2	67.5	261.1
Bamboo	2	58.7	227.0
CELF	3	60.5	234.1
Bamboo	3	52.4	202.5
CELF	4	63.5	245.7
Bamboo	4	62.6	242.0

**Table 6.** Average specific flexural strengths of CELF and bamboo-reinforced composites

According to literature, the mildly treated bamboo fibers used in this experiment would be expected to be significantly weaker than that of steel (19), as the bamboo fibers used did not undergo any lignin removal treatment therefore preventing infiltration of epoxy into the bamboo (5). The bamboo fibers were also scattered in random orientation and not aligned with the load axis, suggesting that the product may have been weaker than if the fibers were aligned with the direction of the load (6). When considering CELF, although it is treated to remove lignin and hemicellulose, it has never been used to make a fiber reinforced composite before this study. Therefore, there is no evidence that epoxy deeply infiltrates CELF fibers similar to lignin removed bamboo. The team is only able to infer that CELF behaves similar to infiltration of epoxy into lignin removed bamboo based on previous literature. This would be an essential step in proving the viability of CELF for any future research, as this study did not investigate microscopic interactions between CELF epoxy resin due to lack of resources and time. CELF used in this study was provided in a powdered form, with no ability to directionally align fibers.

#### 4.4 Fracture Analysis on Tensile Breaks

Qualitative fracture analysis was performed on all of the coupons broken in the tensile testing method to determine common breaking points between all coupons. Flexural fracture analysis proved to be difficult, as the three-point bending test significantly deformed the material, discoloring the epoxy matrix and making it difficult to analyze the fracture points. Many common fracture points had noticeable defects leading to a compromise of strength within the material, most notably air bubbles. On the bamboo-reinforced composites specifically, stray fibers that ran perpendicular to the load axis were notably present. Figure 15 shows a tensile break of a 4% bamboo-reinforced composite with a noticeable perpendicular fiber and air bubble along the broken face. This lack of alignment in the direction of the tensile load is another factor that serves as a major contributor to the compromised biocomposite coupon strength because aligned fibers would promote uniform load distribution that would provide much greater reinforcement to the epoxy matrix (6). The random, discontinuous fiber alignment arose from practical limitations as the fibers were very small and aligning on top of an epoxy layer would take too much time compared to the quick hardening time of the epoxy used for these biocomposite samples.



Figure 15. Tensile break on 4% bamboo-reinforced composite coupon

The CELF reinforced composites exhibited similar patterns along the broken face, with air bubbles being common among breaking points. However, since the CELF fibers were ball milled into a more uniform powder, they lacked the dimensional aspect seen within the bamboo-reinforced composites. What was noticeable, however, were larger pieces of CELF that partially protruded from the broken face of the composite as seen in Figure 16. This finding aligns with the decline in strength observed as weight percentages increased from 1 wt. % to 4 wt. % because air bubbles are a large contributor to decreases in tensile strength in epoxy resins (*43*).

This increase in air bubble concentration at higher weight percentages likely arises from the fact that layering epoxy upon greater amounts of fibers will inevitably lead to air bubble formation. While the team degassed each sample for half an hour in a vacuum oven, the curing conditions did not successfully remove all air bubbles.



Figure 16. Tensile break on 4 wt. % CELF reinforced composite coupons

### 4.5 Recommendations for Future Work

The project team's recommendations for future work focuses on the following three areas of the methodology: bamboo fiber alignment, biocomposite sample curing conditions, and use of a bio-based epoxy in replacement of petroleum-based. In addressing these three areas, the team believes that the new bamboo biocomposite samples should have the potential to exhibit improved mechanical strength properties, based upon supporting evidence from literature, and improved sustainability as a result of implementing a more sustainable epoxy.

The first area the team recommends future groups address is correction of bamboo fiber alignment with the biocomposite samples. As mentioned previously, the biocomposites samples were machined with random, discontinuous fiber alignment leading to the occurrence of fracture points on bamboo fibers misaligned with the axis on which the load was being applied. Future work developing the bamboo fiber biocomposite samples should aim to achieve unidirectional fiber alignment to achieve a uniform load distribution when subjecting biocomposite coupons to mechanical tests (44). Through addressing the issue of random, non-uniform fiber alignment,

future biocomposite samples have the potential to exhibit improved tensile and flexural strengths.

The second area of the methodology identified for improvement involves the curing conditions that biocomposite samples are subjected to. The 30-minute degassing period in the vacuum oven did not yield the desired outcome of eliminating air bubbles. The team recommends varying both curing time and vacuum pressure that biocomposite samples experience during the degassing process. Epoxy manufacturing practice specifies that epoxy be kept at a specified temperature based on the kind of epoxy to see uniform cure time and lack of air bubbles (45). Although the team achieved this by keeping the composite at room temperature once made, the presence of air bubbles persisted which could be due to insufficient time or vacuum. Investigating an applied vacuum over more extended periods of time could prove to be more beneficial for removing air bubbles throughout the composite (46). The team's main focus for this study was to develop a novel method for biocomposite construction and determining preliminary mechanical properties; integrating the manipulation of curing condition variables for future samples increases the ability to identify potential relationships relating to air bubble formation.

To improve upon the overall sustainability of future bamboo fiber biocomposites, implementation of a bio-epoxy should be considered. A more sustainable construction cycle of biocomposite sample manufacturing can be achieved through bio-epoxy use, replacing petroleum-based alternatives. Research into the specific applications of bio-epoxies is still ongoing, as their mechanical properties and strengths vary depending on bio-based composition (47). Additionally, studies on bio-epoxy synthesis utilizing biomass lignin (48, 49, 50) suggest the potential for utilization of lignin derived from the CELF pretreatment process. Further implications of developing bio-epoxies with lignin suggest biocomposite samples can be fabricated with nearly complete utilization biomass, as highlighted in (49). The implementation of bio-epoxies shows promise for enhancing the sustainability of future bamboo biocomposite samples, presenting the potential for a sustainable alternative to petroleum-based epoxies. However, continued research is necessary to produce more data and develop a better understanding on the mechanical properties of bio-epoxies.

#### **Chapter 5. Conclusions**

Although an essential part of the building and commercial industry, steelmaking's contribution to carbon emissions and other unsustainable practices calls for a more sustainable alternative building material in future applications. Currently, bamboo fiber-reinforced composites have emerged as a promising replacement for steel and other building materials. However, traditional BFRCs are not fully sustainable, due to harsh chemicals rendering parts of the plant unusable. The workaround to this issue is using co-solvent enhanced lignocellulosic fractionation, or CELF, a fiber pretreatment option developed by a team at UC Riverside which preserves all parts of the bamboo fibers that removed excess oils and waxes, the team created BFRCs of varying weight percentages that were tested using flexural three-point bending tests and tensile tests.

The study produced no statistically significant difference between the CELF and bamboo fibers (Tables 2 & 3) in regard to tensile and flexural strength; however, this result shows promise for the use of CELF fibers in future biocomposites as they performed no worse than their bamboo and pure epoxy counterparts. Additionally, the specific strength was calculated for tensile and flexural testing (Tables 5 & 6), where results were compared to 304 stainless steel, a common industry material. Both BFRCs underperformed compared to steel in tensile strength and overperformed in flexural strength. The novel biocomposite samples show initial promise towards developing more sustainable materials that exhibit mechanical properties comparable to steel or concrete.

# References

(1) Allwood, J. M.; Cullen, J. M.; Milford, R. L. Options for Achieving a 50% Cut in Industrial Carbon Emissions by 2050. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44* (6), 1888–1894. https://doi.org/10.1021/es902909k.

(2) Moynihan, M. C.; Allwood, J. M. Utilization of Structural Steel in Buildings. *Proc. R. Soc. A.* **2014**, *470* (2168), 20140170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.2014.0170</u>.

(3) Kueppers, M. *Iron & steel*. IEA. <u>https://www.iea.org/energy-system/industry/steel</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(4) Erden, S.; Ho, K. Fiber Reinforced Composites. In *Fiber Technology for Fiber-Reinforced Composites*; Elsevier, 2017; pp 51–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-101871-2.00003-5</u>.

(5) Huang, J.-K.; Young, W.-B. The Mechanical, Hygral, and Interfacial Strength of Continuous Bamboo Fiber Reinforced Epoxy Composites. *Composites Part B: Engineering* **2019**, *166*, 272–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compositesb.2018.12.013</u>.

(6) Chin, S. C.; Tee, K. F.; Tong, F. S.; Ong, H. R.; Gimbun, J. Thermal and Mechanical Properties of Bamboo Fiber Reinforced Composites. *Materials Today Communications* **2020**, *23*, 100876. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtcomm.2019.100876</u>.

(7) Timko, Michael T. Feedstocks - Wastes and Biomass. CHE 3722, Worcester Polytechnic Institute.

(8) Luiza Astolfi, A.; Rempel, A.; Cavanhi, V. A. F.; Alves, M.; Deamici, K. M.; Colla, L. M.; Costa, J. A. V. Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation of Spirulina Sp. and Corn Starch for the Production of Bioethanol and Obtaining Biopeptides with High Antioxidant Activity. *Bioresource Technology* **2020**, *301*, 122698. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122698</u>.

(9) Ayodele, B. V.; Alsaffar, M. A.; Mustapa, S. I. An Overview of Integration Opportunities for Sustainable Bioethanol Production from First- and Second-Generation Sugar-Based Feedstocks. *Journal of Cleaner Production* **2020**, *245*, 118857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118857. (10) Aghaei, S.; Karimi Alavijeh, M.; Shafiei, M.; Karimi, K. A Comprehensive Review on Bioethanol Production from Corn Stover: Worldwide Potential, Environmental Importance, and Perspectives. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 2022, *161*, 106447.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2022.106447.

(11) Singh, Y. D.; Mahanta, P.; Bora, U. Comprehensive Characterization of Lignocellulosic Biomass through Proximate, Ultimate and Compositional Analysis for Bioenergy Production. *Renewable Energy* **2017**, *103*, 490–500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2016.11.039</u>.

(12) Parthasarathi, R.; Bellesia, G.; Chundawat, S. P. S.; Dale, B. E.; Langan, P.; Gnanakaran, S. Insights into Hydrogen Bonding and Stacking Interactions in Cellulose. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2011**, *115* (49), 14191–14202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jp203620x</u>.

(13) Ramamoorthy, S. K.; Skrifvars, M.; Persson, A. A Review of Natural Fibers Used in Biocomposites: Plant, Animal and Regenerated Cellulose Fibers. *Polymer Reviews* 2015, 55 (1), 107–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15583724.2014.971124</u>.

(14) Wyman, C.; Decker, S.; Himmel, M.; Brady, J.; Skopec, C.; Viikari, L. Hydrolysis of Cellulose and Hemicellulose. In *Polysaccharides*; Dumitriu, S., Ed.; CRC Press, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420030822.ch43.

(15) Sun, R. Lignin Source and Structural Characterization. *ChemSusChem* **2020**, *13* (17), 4385–4393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.202001324</u>.

(16) International Energy Association. Biorefineries: Adding Value to the sustainable Utilization of Biomass. 2009. <u>https://www.ieabioenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Task-42-Booklet.pdf</u>.

(17) Kumar, B.; Verma, P. Biomass-Based Biorefineries: An Important Architype towards a Circular Economy. *Fuel* **2021**, *288*, 119622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.119622</u>.

(18) Yoo, C. G.; Meng, X.; Pu, Y.; Ragauskas, A. J. The Critical Role of Lignin in Lignocellulosic Biomass Conversion and Recent Pretreatment Strategies: A Comprehensive Review. *Bioresource Technology* **2020**, *301*, 122784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.122784.

(19) Wang, Y.-Y.; Wang, X.-Q.; Li, Y.-Q.; Huang, P.; Yang, B.; Hu, N.; Fu, S.-Y. High-Performance Bamboo Steel Derived from Natural Bamboo. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13* (1), 1431–1440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.0c18239</u>.

(20) Cai, C. M.; Zhang, T.; Kumar, R.; Wyman, C. E. THF Co-Solvent Enhances Hydrocarbon Fuel Precursor Yields from Lignocellulosic Biomass. *Green Chem.* **2013**, *15* (11), 3140. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3gc41214h.

(21) Hessel, V.; Tran, N. N.; Asrami, M. R.; Tran, Q. D.; Van Duc Long, N.; Escribà-Gelonch, M.; Tejada, J. O.; Linke, S.; Sundmacher, K. Sustainability of Green Solvents – Review and Perspective. *Green Chem.* **2022**, *24* (2), 410–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D1GC03662A</u>.

(22) Cai, C. M.; Zhang, T.; Kumar, R.; Wyman, C. E. Integrated Furfural Production as a Renewable Fuel and Chemical Platform from Lignocellulosic Biomass. *J of Chemical Tech & Biotech* **2014**, 89 (1), 2–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.4168</u>.

(23) Cai, C. M.; Nagane, N.; Kumar, R.; Wyman, C. E. Coupling Metal Halides with a Co-Solvent to Produce Furfural and 5-HMF at High Yields Directly from Lignocellulosic Biomass as an Integrated Biofuels Strategy. *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16* (8), 3819–3829. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C4GC00747F</u>.

(24) Nguyen, T. Y.; Cai, C. M.; Kumar, R.; Wyman, C. E. Co-solvent Pretreatment Reduces Costly Enzyme Requirements for High Sugar and Ethanol Yields from Lignocellulosic Biomass. *ChemSusChem* **2015**, 8 (10), 1716–1725. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201403045</u>.

(25) Nguyen, T. Y.; Cai, C. M.; Osman, O.; Kumar, R.; Wyman, C. E. CELF Pretreatment of Corn Stover Boosts Ethanol Titers and Yields from High Solids SSF with Low Enzyme Loadings. *Green Chem.* **2016**, *18* (6), 1581–1589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C5GC01977J</u>.

(26) Smith, M. D.; Mostofian, B.; Cheng, X.; Petridis, L.; Cai, C. M.; Wyman, C. E.; Smith, J. C. Cosolvent Pretreatment in Cellulosic Biofuel Production: Effect of Tetrahydrofuran-Water on Lignin Structure and Dynamics. *Green Chem.* **2016**, *18* (5), 1268–1277. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5GC01952D.

(27) Patri, A. S.; Mostofian, B.; Pu, Y.; Ciaffone, N.; Soliman, M.; Smith, M. D.; Kumar, R.; Cheng, X.; Wyman, C. E.; Tetard, L.; Ragauskas, A. J.; Smith, J. C.; Petridis, L.; Cai, C. M. A Multifunctional Cosolvent Pair Reveals Molecular Principles of Biomass Deconstruction. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141* (32), 12545–12557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b10242</u>.

(28) Meng, X.; Bhagia, S.; Wang, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Pu, Y.; Dunlap, J. R.; Shuai, L.; Ragauskas, A. J.; Yoo, C. G. Effects of the Advanced Organosolv Pretreatment Strategies on Structural Properties of Woody Biomass. *Industrial Crops and Products* 2020, *146*, 112144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2020.112144.

(29) Zhao, Z.-M.; Meng, X.; Scheidemantle, B.; Pu, Y.; Liu, Z.-H.; Li, B.-Z.; Wyman, C. E.; Cai, C. M.; Ragauskas, A. J. Cosolvent Enhanced Lignocellulosic Fractionation Tailoring Lignin Chemistry and Enhancing Lignin Bioconversion. *Bioresource Technology* **2022**, *347*, 126367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.126367.

(30) Lu, X.; Gu, X. A Review on Lignin-Based Epoxy Resins: Lignin Effects on Their Synthesis and Properties. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* **2023**, *229*, 778–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2022.12.322.

(31) Heinze, T. Cellulose: Structure and Properties. In *Cellulose Chemistry and Properties: Fibers, Nanocelluloses and Advanced Materials*; Rojas, O. J., Ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2016; pp 1–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2015\_319.

(32) Liu, J.; Li, X.; Li, M.; Zheng, Y. Lignin Biorefinery: Lignin Source, Isolation, Characterization, and Bioconversion. In *Advances in Bioenergy*; Elsevier, 2022; Vol. 7, pp 211– 270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aibe.2022.05.004</u>. (33) Weggler, B. A.; Gruber, B.; Teehan, P.; Jaramillo, R.; Dorman, F. L. Inlets and Sampling. In *Separation Science and Technology*; Elsevier, 2020; Vol. 12, pp 141–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813745-1.00005-2.

(34) *Desktop High Energy Vibratory Ball Mill with One 80ml St St Jar*. <u>https://www.acrossinternational.com/desktop-high-energy-vibratory-ball-mill-with-one-80ml-st-</u><u>st-jar.html</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(35) *Sigmacell Cellulose Type 20, 20um 9004-34-6*. <u>http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(36) *McMaster-Carr*. Structural Adhesive: Epoxy, Loctite® M-121hp, 1.69 FL. oz. Cartridge. <u>https://www.mcmaster.com/</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(37) *Flexible Spreader Set*. TotalBoat. <u>https://www.totalboat.com/products/flexible-spreader-set</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(38) ASTM Committee on Standards. Standard Test Methods for Flexural Properties of Unreinforced and Reinforced Plastics and Electrical Insulating Materials D790. July 2017. https://compass.astm.org/document/?contentCode=ASTM%7CD0790-17%7Cen-US.

(39) ASTM Committee on Standards. Standard Test Method for Tensile Properties of Polymer Matrix Composite Materials D3039/D3039M. November 2017. https://compass.astm.org/document/?contentCode=ASTM%7CD3039\_D3039M-17%7Cen-US.

(40) *What is 304 Stainless Steel?*. Masteel. <u>https://masteel.co.uk/news/what-304-stainless-steel/</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(41) *The Versatile Uses of 304 Stainless Steel in the Steel Industry*. Masteel. <u>https://masteel.co.uk/news/304-stainless-steel/</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(42) Spira, N. What Is the Density of Stainless Steel?. Kloeckner Metals Corporation.
 <u>https://www.kloecknermetals.com/blog/what-is-the-density-of-stainless-steel/</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(43) Sritharan, R.; Askari, D. A Design of Experiment Study to Investigate the Effects of Hardener Concentration, Stirring Time, and Air Bubbles on the Tensile Strength of Epoxy Resin. *Journal of Elastomers & Plastics* 2022, *54* (7), 1129–1147. https://doi.org/10.1177/00952443221131197.

(44) Pan, Y. Mechanical and Microstructural Characteristics of the Fiber-Reinforced Composite Materials. *JMMCE* **2022**, *10* (06), 477–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/jmmce.2022.106034</u>.

(45) *Epoxy Chemistry / WEST SYSTEM Epoxy*. <u>https://www.westsystem.com/instruction/epoxy-basics/epoxy-chemistry/</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(46) TotalBoat. *Getting Rid of Bubbles in Epoxy*. TotalBoat.
<u>https://www.totalboat.com/blogs/totalboat/getting-rid-of-bubbles-in-epoxy</u> (accessed 2024-04-22).

(47) Terry, J. S.; Taylor, A. C. The Properties and Suitability of Commercial Bio-based Epoxies for Use in Fiber-reinforced Composites. *J of Applied Polymer Sci* **2021**, *138* (20), 50417. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.50417.

(48) Sasaki, C.; Wanaka, M.; Takagi, H.; Tamura, S.; Asada, C.; Nakamura, Y. Evaluation of Epoxy Resins Synthesized from Steam-Exploded Bamboo Lignin. *Industrial Crops and Products* **2013**, *43*, 757–761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2012.08.018</u>.

(49) Bagheri, S.; Nejad, M. Fully Biobased Composite Made with EPOXIDIZED-LIGNIN, Reinforced with Bamboo Fibers. *Polymer Composites* **2023**, *44* (7), 3926–3938. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pc.27366</u>.

(50) Zhang, Y.; Wang, H.; Eberhardt, T. L.; Gu, Q.; Pan, H. Preparation of Carboxylated Lignin-Based Epoxy Resin with Excellent Mechanical Properties. *European Polymer Journal* **2021**, *150*, 110389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2021.110389</u>.

# Appendices

# Appendix A. BFRC Layer Calculations – Mass Fraction

A.1 Bamboo Fiber Composite Sample Layer Data

		Calculated Layer Requirements Per Mass Fraction																							
	Input Value	s (Circular)			N	lass Fractio	n 1	Mass Fraction	2	Ma	ass Fraction	13	Mass Fraction	n 4	Ma	ass Fraction	15								
	Measureme	nt	Unit		Frac	Value	0.01	Frac Value	0.02	Frac Value		0.03	Frac Value	0.04	Frac V	ac Value 0.05									
	Total Mass	50	g		Fibe	r M (g)	0.25	Fiber M (g)	0.50	Fiber	M (g)	0.75	Fiber M (g)	1.00	Fiber	M (g)	1.25								
	Mold Diameter	101.6	mm		Epox	y M (g)	16.50	Epoxy M (g)	16.33	Ероху	M (g)	16.17	Epoxy M (g)	16.00	Ероху	M (g)	15.83								
					Volume	[Tot] (cm3)	44.25	Volume [Tot] (cm3)	44.57	Volume [	Tot] (cm3)	44.89	Volume [Tot] (cm3)	45.21	Volume [1	[ot] (cm3)	45.53								
					Height [	Tot] (mm)	5.46	Height [Tot] (mm)	5.50	Height [T	ot] (mm)	5.54	Height [Tot] (mm)	5.58	Height [T	ot] (mm)	5.62								
									Actua	l Layer N	leasurer	nents Pe	er Trial												
Lay	er Numbering:				Trial #	Layer	Type, #	Mass Fraction 0	Mass F	raction 1	Mass Fr	action 2	Mass Fraction 3	Mass F	raction 4	Mass Fr	action 5								
	-	TOD				Epoxy La	/er 1 M (g)	50.05	16	.47	16	.37	16.20	15	.97										
		1 OP				Epoxy La	/er 2 M (g)		16	.55	16	.29	16.16	16	.16										
						Epoxy La	/er 3 M (g)		16	.54	16	.34	16.19	16	.21										
	Epony	Loger	3			Fiber Lay	/er 1 M (g)		0	25	0.4	49	0.75	0.	99										
				_	1	Fiber Lay	/er 2 M (g)		0.	25	0.	50	0.75	1.	00										
-1	Ebr	Lover	2		_	Mass Fra	action (%)	0	0.	010	0.0	20	0.030	0.0	040										
					_	Degas T		Degas Temp (C)		Degas Temp (C)		Degas Temp (C)		Degas	Temp (C)	0		0		)	0		0		
	Em	Lover	2			Degas T	ime (min)	30	1	30	3	0	30	3	0										
						Pressur	e (in Hg)	6		6		•	6		b										
	E		1	)		Aug Cibe	a la sua M	#DIV/01	0	150		05	0.750		0.5	#DI	//01								
-	Fiber	ager	-			Avg Fibe	r Layer M	#DIV/0:	16	520	16	222	16 183	16	113	#DIN	/0:								
Fill	Epox	1 Loyer	1	}		Avg cpox	y Layer IVI		10	520	10.		10.103	10.	115	#DI	/o.								
Sequence	BC	0770	al																						

A.2 CELF Fiber Composite Sample Layer Data

				Calculated Layer Requirements Per Mass Fraction																
Input Value	es (Circular)	)		М	ass Fraction	n 1	Mass Fraction	12	M	ass Fraction	n <b>3</b>	Mass Fraction 4		Mass Fraction 5		5				
Measureme	nt	Unit		Frac	Value	0.01	Frac Value	0.02	Frac \	/alue	0.03	Frac Value	0.04	Frac V	alue	0.05				
Total Mass	50	g		Fiber	M (g)	0.25	Fiber M (g)	0.50	Fiber	M (g)	0.75	Fiber M (g)	1.00	Fiber	M (g)	1.25				
Mold Diameter	101.6	mm		Epoxy	/ M (g)	16.50	Epoxy M (g)	16.33	Ероху	M (g)	16.17	Epoxy M (g)	16.00	Ероху	M (g)	15.83				
				Volume [	Tot] (cm3)	44.25	Volume [Tot] (cm3)	44.57	Volume [	Tot] (cm3)	44.89	Volume [Tot] (cm3)	45.21	Volume (T	ot] (cm3)	45.53				
				Height []	Fot] (mm)	5.46	Height [Tot] (mm)	5.50	Height [T	ot] (mm)	5.54	Height [Tot] (mm)	5.58	Height [To	ot] (mm)	5.62				
								Actua	l Layer N	leasuren	nents Pe	r Trial								
r Numbering:				Trial #	Layer	Type, #	Mass Fraction 0	Mass Fi	raction 1	Mass Fr	action 2	Mass Fraction 3	Mass Fi	raction 4	Mass Fr	action 5				
-	TOD				Epoxy Lay	/er 1 M (g)	49.98	16	.53	16.	33	16.17	16	.04						
	IOP				Epoxy Lay	er 2 M (g)		16	.45	16.	31	16.15	16	.01						
			¬		Epoxy Lay	/er 3 M (g)		16	5.5	16.	39	16.18	16	.00						
Epony	1 Loyer	3			Fiber Lay	er 1 M (g)		0.2	251	0.5	01	0.75	1.	00						
			_	1	Fiber Lay	er 2 M (g)		0.2	250	0.4	99	0.75	1.	00						
File	Lover	2			Mass Fra	ction (%)	0	0.0	010	0.0	20	0.030	0.0	040						
			_	Degas Te		femp (C)	0		0	(	)	0		0						
Expl	1 Lover	2			Degas Ti	me (min)	30	3	0	3	0	30	3	0						
	P P				Pressure	e (in Hg)	6		ь	t	)	6		ь						
		1					in the second					0.750								
Fiber	rayer			Avg Fiber Layer M		Avg Fiber Layer M		Avg Fiber Layer		r Layer M	#DIV/0:	10.4	402	0.5	00	0.750	1.0	017	#DN	/0:
		1			Avg Epox	y Layer M	49.98	10.	495	10.	040	10.107	10.	017	#DN	70:				
Epok	1 Loyer	1																		
Í LE	ITTO	al																		
BC	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	~																		
	Input Value Measureme Total Mass Mold Diameter	Input Values (Circular Measurement Total Mass 50 Mold Diameter 101.6	Input Values (Circular) Measurement Unit Total Mass 50 g Mold Diameter 101.6 mm r Numbering: TOP From Line 2 From L	Input Values (Circular) Measurement Unit Total Mass 50 g Mold Diameter 101.6 mm r Numbering: TOP Freey Lyce 3 File	Input Values (Circular) Measurement Unit Total Mass 50 g Mold Diameter 101.6 mm Volume [ Height [] TO P Free Line 3 Frie Line 3	Input Values (Circular)       Mass Fraction         Measurement       Unit       Frac Value         Total Mass       50       g         Mold Diameter       101.6       mm         Volume [Tot] (cm3)       Height [Tot] (cm3)         r Numbering:       Trial #       Layer         TOP       Epony Lay       Epony Lay         Fiber Lay       1       Fiber Lay         Fiber Lay       1       Fiber Lay         Fiber Lay       1       Fiber Lay         Fiber Lay       Degas Ti       Degas Ti         Fiber Lay       Avg Fiber       Avg Epox         Fiber Lay       Avg Epox       Avg Epox	Input Values (Circular)       Mass Fraction 1         Measurement       Unit       Frac Value       0.01         Total Mass       50       g       Fiber M (g)       0.25         Mold Diameter       101.6       mm       Volume [Tot] (cm3)       44.25         Height [Tot] (nm)       S.46         Trial #       Layer Type, #         For P       Epory Layer 1 M (g)       Epory Layer 3 M (g)         Fiber Layer 1 M (g)       Fiber Layer 1 M (g)       Epory Layer 3 M (g)         Fiber Layer 1 M (g)       Epory Layer 3 M (g)       Fiber Layer 1 M (g)         Fiber Layer 1 M (g)       Epory Layer 3 M (g)       Mass Fraction (%)         Degas Temp (C)       Degas Time (min)       Perssure (in Hg)         Fiber Layer 1 M       Avg Fiber Layer M       Avg Epoxy Layer M         KottT0 M       Avg Epoxy Layer M       Avg Epoxy Layer M	Control Control       Input Values (Circular)     Mass Fraction 1     Mass Fractor 1       Measurement     Unit     Frac Value     0.01     Frac Value       Total Mass     50     g     Fiber M (g)     0.25     Fiber M (g)       Mold Diameter     101.6     mm     Forac Value     Fiber M (g)     16.50     Epoxy M (g)       Volume [Tot] (cm3)     44.25     Volume [Tot] (cm3)     44.25     Volume [Tot] (cm3)     Height [Tot] (cm3)       r Numbering:     Trial #     Layer Type, #     Mass Fraction 0       Epoxy Layer 1 M (g)     49.98       Epoxy Layer 3 M (g)     Fiber Layer 3 M (g)       Fiber Layer 3 M (g)     Fiber Layer 1 M (g)       I     Fiber Layer 1 M (g)     0       Degas Temp (C)     0     Degas Temp (C)       Degas Time (rimi)     30       Pressure (in Hg)     6       Avg Fiber Layer M     #DIV/0!       Avg Epoxy Layer M     49.98	Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2           Measurement         Unit         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02           Total Mass         50         g         Fiber M (g)         0.25         Fiber M (g)         0.50           Mold Diameter         101.6         mm         Epoxy M (g)         16.33         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.25           Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.25         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.25         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.57           Height [Tot] (nm)         5.46         Height [Tot] (nm)         5.50         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 0           r Numbering:         Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 0           Fiber Layer 1 M (g)         16         Epoxy Layer 1 M (g)         16         16         16         16           Fiber Layer 1 M (g)         10         16 <th>Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mm           Measurement         Unit         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         1.63         Epoxy Mage Tal M (g)         0.63         Frac Value         Frac Value         Frac Value</th> <th>Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Ma</th> <th>Calculation 1         Calculation 2         Mass Fraction 2           Measurement         Unit         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03           Total Mass         50         g         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03           Mold Diameter         101.6         mm         Epoxy M (g)         0.63.0         Epoxy M (g)         0.53         Epoxy M (g)         0.53         Epoxy M (g)         0.54           Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.25         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.57         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.89           r Numbering:         Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2           From 1         Epoxy Layer 1 M (g)         0.251         0.501         1         Epoxy Layer 1 M (g)         0.251         0.501           Fract Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair</th> <th>Cartonate (Cartonate) Cayler Regulation (Cartonate) Part Wass Fraction 3           Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3</th> <th>Calculation Layer Regulation as Praction           Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4           Measurement         Unit         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03         Frac Value         0.04           Total Mass         50         g         Fiber M (g)         0.25         Fiber M (g)         0.05         Fiber M (g)         0.05           Mold Diameter         101.6         mm         Epoxy M (g)         16.33         Epoxy M (g)         16.00           Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.25         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.57         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.89         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.89           r Numbering:         Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3           Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3           r Numbering:         Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3           Fiber Mus</th> <th>Calculation 2         Calculation 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4         <th co<="" th=""><th>Cardinated regen Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation           Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4         Mass Fraction 4           Measurement         Unit         Total Mass         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03         Frac Value         0.04         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.85         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87</th></th></th>	Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mm           Measurement         Unit         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         1.63         Epoxy Mage Tal M (g)         0.63         Frac Value         Frac Value         Frac Value	Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Ma	Calculation 1         Calculation 2         Mass Fraction 2           Measurement         Unit         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03           Total Mass         50         g         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03           Mold Diameter         101.6         mm         Epoxy M (g)         0.63.0         Epoxy M (g)         0.53         Epoxy M (g)         0.53         Epoxy M (g)         0.54           Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.25         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.57         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.89           r Numbering:         Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2           From 1         Epoxy Layer 1 M (g)         0.251         0.501         1         Epoxy Layer 1 M (g)         0.251         0.501           Fract Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair Pair	Cartonate (Cartonate) Cayler Regulation (Cartonate) Part Wass Fraction 3           Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3	Calculation Layer Regulation as Praction           Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4           Measurement         Unit         Frac Value         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03         Frac Value         0.04           Total Mass         50         g         Fiber M (g)         0.25         Fiber M (g)         0.05         Fiber M (g)         0.05           Mold Diameter         101.6         mm         Epoxy M (g)         16.33         Epoxy M (g)         16.00           Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.25         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.57         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.89         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.89           r Numbering:         Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3           Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3           r Numbering:         Trial #         Layer Type, #         Mass Fraction 0         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 3           Fiber Mus	Calculation 2         Calculation 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4         Mass Fraction 4 <th co<="" th=""><th>Cardinated regen Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation           Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4         Mass Fraction 4           Measurement         Unit         Total Mass         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03         Frac Value         0.04         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.85         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87</th></th>	<th>Cardinated regen Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation           Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4         Mass Fraction 4           Measurement         Unit         Total Mass         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03         Frac Value         0.04         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.85         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87</th>	Cardinated regen Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation Layer Regulation           Input Values (Circular)         Mass Fraction 1         Mass Fraction 2         Mass Fraction 3         Mass Fraction 4         Mass Fraction 4           Measurement         Unit         Total Mass         0.01         Frac Value         0.02         Frac Value         0.03         Frac Value         0.04         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.85         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87         Volume [Tot] (cm3)         44.87			

A.3 Composite Layering Workbook Link BFRC Mass Fractions

# Appendix B. BFRC Tensile and Flexural Test Results & Analysis

B.1 Bamboo Fiber Composite Tensile Data

							Bai	nboo				
Wt. %	Stress (psi)	Mean Stress (psi)	St. Dev	L (in)	W (in)	T (in)	Mass (g)	Volume (mL)	Density (g/mL)	Mean Density (g/mL)	Spec. Strength (kN*m/kg)	% steel
	0 4320.7	1		2.849	0.282	0.17	0.51	0.47	1.09			
	0 3961.5	4158.1	182.0	2.846	0.280	0.173	0.45	0.38	1.18	1.11	25.8	0.358883
	0 4192.2	2		2.857	0.285	0.172	0.85	0.8	1.06			
	1 4085.8	3		2.805	0.282	0.172	1.06	0.95	1.12			
	1 4627.8	4530.7	405.2	2.800	0.285	0.17	1.13	1.05	1.08	1.08	28.8	0.400538
	1 4878.6	5		2.808	0.284	0.171	1.22	1.15	1.06			
	2 3274.7		702.8 554.7	2.839	0.280	0.172	1.07	1	1.07	1.06	24.0	0.333466
	2 4329.5	3702.8		2.844	0.284	0.172	1.6	1.55	1.03			
	2 3504.3	8		2.822	0.285	0.173	1.2	1.1	1.09			
	3 3698.4		223.4	2.832	0.278	0.176	0.98	0.9	1.09	1.04	26.1	0.362637
	3 4144.9	3926.4		2.828	0.287	0.176	1.16	1.15	1.01			
	3 3935.9	)		2.847	0.286	0.177	1.27	1.25	1.02			
	4 3651.3			2.838	0.284	0.175	1.16	1.15	1.01			0.330689
	4 3329.4	3552.5	193.6	2.808	0.285	0.177	0.92	0.9	1.02	1.03	23.8	
	4 3676.8	3		2.836	0.282	0.178	1.27	1.2	1.06			
			Mean	2.831	0.283	0.174	ŧ.			304 Steel Spec Strength	71.9	
			St. Dev	0.018	0.003	0.003						

# B.2 CELF Fiber Composite Tensile Data

							CE	ELF				
Wt. %	Stress (psi)	Mean Stress (psi)	St. Dev	L (in)	W (in)	T (in)	Mass (g)	Volume (mL)	Density (g/mL)	Mean Density (g/mL)	Spec. Strength (kN*m/kg	z)
0	4320.7			2.849	0.282	0.17	0.51	0.47	1.09			
0	3961.5	4158.1	182.0	2.846	0.280	0.173	0.45	0.38	1.18	1.11	25.8	0.35889
0	4192.2			2.857	0.285	0.172	0.85	0.8	1.06			
1	3983.1			2.847	0.285	0.173	0.86	0.85	1.01			
1	5211.5	4751.5	669.7	2.848	0.282	0.173	1.26	1.2	1.05	1.04	31.5	0.43792
1	5059.8			2.85	0.282	0.173	1.27	1.2	1.06			
2	3799.1	4184.2		2.834	0.285	0.178	1.34	1.3	1.03		27.3	0.37959
2	4195.7		4184.2 379.5	2.834	0.289	0.177	1.24	1.15	1.08	1.06		
2	4557.9			2.827	0.288	0.178	1.22	1.15	1.06			
3	4054.2			2.829	0.286	0.178	1.27	1.2	1.06		27.3	0.38002
3	4400.4	4245.6	5.6 176.0	2.826	0.286	0.178	0.63	0.6	1.05	1.07		
3	4282.2			2.819	0.287	0.176	1.27	1.15	1.10			
4	4260.5			2.836	0.285	0.177	0.83	0.85	0.98		27.3	0.38002
4	3632.7	4166.4 493.5	493.5	2.849	0.285	0.177	1.28	1.2	1.07	1.05		
4	4606.1		2.844	0.287	0.177	1.72	1.55	1.11				
			Mean	2.840	0.285	0.175				304 Steel Spec Strength	71.9	
			St. Dev	0.011	0.002	0.003						

### B.3 Statistical P-values for Tensile Testing

Ps for Stress									
Wt. %	P								
0	#DIV/0!								
1	0.383								
2	0.296								
3	0.010								
4	0.077								
Overall	0.003								
0_to_1_B	0.345								
0 to 1 C	0.341								

# B.4 Bamboo Fiber Composite Tensile Data

							Bar	nboo					
Wt. %	Stress (psi)	Mean Stress (psi)	St. Dev	L (in)	W (in)	T (in)	Mass (g)	Volume (mL)	Density (g/mL)	Mean Density (g/mL)	Spec. Strength (kN*m/kg)	% steel	
C	7764.3	8804.9		2.853	0.288	0.176	0.51	0.47	1.09				
C	8319.0		1350.8	2.840	0.287	0.177	0.45	0.38	1.18	1.11	54.6	211.30175	
C	10331.5			2.841	0.284	0.177	0.85	0.8	1.06				
1	10499.4	10409.0		2.807	0.285	0.176	1.06	0.95	1.12			255.86144	
1	10087.8		286.9	2.817	0.289	0.174	1.13	1.05	1.08	1.08	66.1		
1	10639.8				2.799	0.283	0.177	1.22	1.15	1.06			
2	9732.7			2.838	0.286	0.177	1.07	1	1.07	1.06	58.7	227.01214	
2	8421.1	9065.9	656.1	2.846	0.289	0.178	1.6	1.55	1.03				
2	9043.9			2.834	0.281	0.176	1.2	1.1	1.09				
3	8500.0			2.830	0.285	0.176	0.98	0.9	1.09				
3	7444.7	7885.9	548.5	548.5	2.819	0.285	0.175	1.16	1.15	1.01	1.04	52.4	202.51269
3	7713.1			2.84	0.287	0.177	1.27	1.25	1.02				
4	9878.0			2.822	0.284	0.177	1.16	1.15	1.01				
4	8695.2	9350.4	601.6	2.845	0.283	0.177	0.92	0.9	1.02	1.03	62.6	242.01193	
4	9478.0			2.827	0.284	0.177	1.27	1.2	1.06				
			Mean	2.831	0.285	0.176				304 Steel Spec Strength	25.9		
			St. Dev	0.015	0.002	0.001							

B.5 CELF Fiber Composite Tensile Data

							CE	LF							
Wt. %	Stress (psi)	Mean Stress (psi)	St. Dev	L (in)	W (in)	T (in)	Mass (g)	Volume (mL)	Density (g/mL)	Mean Density (g/mL)	Spec. Strength (kN*m/kg)	% steel			
C	7764.3			2.853	0.288	0.176	0.51	0.47	1.09						
C	8319.0	8804.9	1350.8	2.840	0.287	0.177	0.45	0.38	1.18	1.11	54.6	211.303			
C	10331.5			2.841	0.284	0.177	0.85	0.8	1.06						
1	10504.6			2.844	0.287	0.177	1.06	0.95	1.12						
1	10525.4	10389.4	217.8	2.852	0.287	0.178	1.13	1.05	1.08	1.08	66.0	255.38			
1	10138.2			2.843	0.289	0.177	1.22	1.15	1.06						
2	10563.6			2.821	0.284	0.174	1.07	1	1.07	1.06	67.5	261.112			
2	10081.0	10427.7	302.6	2.838	0.288	0.176	1.6	1.55	1.03						
2	10638.5			2.826	0.286	0.177	1.2	1.1	1.09						
3	8646.9			2.815	0.283	0.178	0.98	0.9	1.09	1.04	60.5	234.091			
3	9626.8	9115.6	491.3	2.829	0.284	0.177	1.16	1.15	1.01						
3	9073.1			2.825	0.287	0.177	1.27	1.25	1.02						
4	9629.6			2.841	0.286	0.178	1.16	1.15	1.01			245.746			
4	8600.0	9494.7	835.4	2.848	0.288	0.178	0.92	0.9	1.02	1.03	63.5				
4	10254.4						2.827	0.286	0.177	1.27	1.2	1.06			
			Mean	2.836	0.286	0.177				304 Steel Spec Strength	25.9				
			St. Dev	0.012	0.002	0.001									

B.6 Statistical P-values for Flexural Testing

Ps for	Stress
Wt. %	Ρ
0	#DIV/0!
1	0.949
2	0.036
3	0.173
4	0.696
Overall	0.022
0_to_1_B	0.151
0_to_1_C	0.221

B.7 Mechanical Test Workbook Link

Tensile\_Flex\_Tests\_BFRC

# Appendix C. Pictures of BFRC Samples and Their Creation

C.1 Additional Pictures of The BFRC-Making Process



Figure C1. Materials used for creating a CELF fiber composite

C.2 Tensile Cross-Sections of Fractures for All Bamboo Weight Percentages



Figure C2. Placing CELF fiber clumps into the mold during the sample-making process



Figure C3. Bamboo fiber 1 wt. % tensile fracture cross-section



Figure C4. Bamboo fiber 2 wt. % tensile fracture cross-section



Figure C5. Bamboo fiber 3 wt. % tensile fracture side view



Figure C6. Bamboo fiber 4 wt. % tensile fracture cross-section

C.3 Tensile Cross-Sections of Fractures for All CELF Weight Percentages



Figure C7. CELF fiber 1 wt. % tensile fracture cross-section



Figure C8. CELF fiber 2 wt. % tensile fracture cross-section



Figure C9. CELF fiber 3 wt. % tensile fracture cross-section



Figure C10. CELF fiber 4 wt. % tensile fracture cross-section

# Appendix D. Full Mechanical Test Result Files Generated by Instron Software

#### D.1 Tensile Result Files





































#### D.2 Flexural Result Files





flex Friday, March 01, 2024 11:16:46 AM 0.14000 in 2.00000 in 0.10000 in/min

Modulus (Automatic)

295725.34299











Specimen Label 3wt% Bamboo 2 Flex Steelcane QP Bamboo Composite 3 Point Bend

0.01 0.02 0.03 0.04 0.05 0.06 0.07 0.08 0.09 0.10 0.11

Extension [in]

25 20

[jq] 15

0.00

pe 10









52







